2001

Kent F. Fuller v. Zinik Sporting Goods Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil action brought by plaintiff against defendants for damages arising out of the detention, arrest, incarceration and prosecution of plaintiff by defendants. Plaintiff contends that he was illegally and without probable cause detained, arrested and charged with and prosecuted for the crime of shoplifting at Zinik's store in Salt Lake City.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter was tried to a jury and verdicts of No Cause of Action (R. 150-153) were returned on the issues of malicious prosecution, false arrest, and false imprisonment.

Plaintiff filed a Motion for New Trial (R. 145), based upon (1) the refusal of the trial court to grant plaintiff's Motion for Directed Verdict at the close of the evidence on the issue of liability as to false arrest and false imprisonment, and (2) refusal of the trial court to instruct the jury, as requested by plaintiff, that the burden of proof to show reasonable and probable cause for plaintiff's detention and arrest under Sections 77-13-30 and 77-13-32, Utah Code Annotated, as amended 1959, was the burden of defendants. The Motion for New Trial was denied.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the Judgment on Verdict entered in this matter and of the Order denying the Motion for New Trial, and requests that the matter be remanded to the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County for a new trial. Plaintiff requests that this Court hold as a matter of law that defendants are liable to plaintiff in damages for false imprisonment and false arrest and that, as to those issues, the sole issue to submit for trial on remand should be that of damages.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At approximate 2:00 P.M. on a warm afternoon on August 14, 1973, plaintiff came into downtown Salt Lake City on his motorbike (R. 7) for shopping purposes. He parked his vehicle on Main Street and entered the business premises of Zinik Sporting Goods Company. He carried his helmet with him (R. 8), since to leave it with the vehicle is an open invitation to theft. The chin strap was connected, and he carried the helmet with the strap as he proceeded to the rear of the store where the sporting goods were displayed. He was wearing cut-off Levis and a "tank top", which is a type of a slip-on shirt not having sleeves (R. 8, 10).

At the time, there were very few customers in the store, particularly in the sporting goods section, and several clerks were standing around with little to do (R. 23). Plaintiff stopped at a display counter featuring mountain climbing equipment, where he picked up a karabiner (R. 13), and was examining it and other mountain climbing equipment. A karabiner is a light weight object approximately $2\frac{1}{2}$ inches long and $1\frac{1}{2}$ inches wide, shaped and looking like a $\frac{1}{2}$ inch chain link, and having a spring arrangement which permits a portion of the link to open. It is inserted into the eye of metal wedges driven into rocks, and a climber can then tie to or string his rope through the karabiner. The item retails for about \$2.00.

One of the store's clerks approached the plaintiff

and, with the karabiner in his hand (R. 14), the plaintiff and the clerk went to another nearby display stand where plaintiff selected a waterbag which his mother had requested that he purchase (R. 17). The two of them then went to the check counter, which was centrally located just slightly to the rear of the center of the store (See Exhibit 1-P, which shows the location of the various store areas and the route of plaintiff while in the store). While making payment for the waterbag plaintiff placed the karabiner in his helmet and put the helmet on the floor against the check counter rather than on the high narrow ledge of the check counter, since helmets are oval and tend to roll around when they are set down (R. 16, 17). The karabiner was placed upon two or three flat packets of photo prints which plaintiff had previously paid for at another business establishment, and which were lying flat in the bottom of the helmet (R. 15, 42). The clerk inquired of plaintiff if there was anything else that he wanted and he answered "Not for awhile", and that he was comparing some things (R. 18). The water bag was then put in a sack, which plaintiff held in his hand.

Plaintiff thereupon picked up his helmet and retraced his route toward the back of the store and went to the same area containing the mountain climbing equipment and a contiguous section of the store containing a display of bows and arrows (R. 19).

In the meantime, defendant Folkman, assistant

manager of the store, had received a phone call from an employee, Richard Bringhurst, that there was a "possible" shoplifter (R. 80, 100) in the store. Folkman came down the elevator from an upstairs office, checked with one of the employees to determine which person they were watching, and walked to the main door at the front entrance to the store (R. 100). The store had no rear entrance available to customers.

After waiting three or four minutes at the main door, Folkman re-traced his steps and approached plaintiff as he was standing in the bow and arrow section looking at a display (R. 101) and stated "Where's the karabiner? Empty your pockets." (R. 102).

Plaintiff held his helmet out towards Folkman (R. 21, 49), but he was required to separately empty each of his pockets. Folkman personally examined plaintiff's rear pockets (R. 102). Thereupon, Folkman looked into the helmet and saw the karabiner, which lay against the sloping edge of the helmet and alongside the film packets. The degree to which the karabiner was visible was the subject of a conflict in the evidence, but there was no question on the part of any witness as to the fact that it was visible (R. 19, 50, 111, 112, 116, 117).

Folkman took the karabiner, made a comment that "... that was concealment, ..." and proceeded to take plaintiff into a back room of the store (R. 102). He made no contact after plaintiff's detention with any of the other store employees, although plaintiff testified

that one of them came by at the time of his detention and made a comment that he had seen plaintiff put the karabiner in his pocket (R. 21, 51, 56). At least one employee did, however, follow them to the back room of the store and stood outside the door (R. 64).

Folkman then proceeded to telephone the police and, after a police officer arrived and the proper formalities were had, Folkman advised plaintiff that he was under arrest (R. 113). Prior thereto, and while the two of them were in the back room, plaintiff explained to Folkman that he intended to purchase the karabiner and inquired as to why he could not pay for it (R. 103). At the time he had approximately \$7.00 in his possession, a checking account with a balance of approximately \$1,000.00, and his family maintained an account at Zinik's (R. 24, 46).

The police officer, after Folkman had made the formal arrest, forced the plaintiff to stand up against the wall of the rear room, frisked him, and handcuffed his hands behind his back (R. 22). The officer, accompanied by Folkman, led the plaintiff through the store and out the front entrance onto Main Street, where he was placed in a police car and taken to the local jail. He was booked, finger-printed, mugged (photographed), and his possessions were checked (R. 24, 25). He was assured that his motor bike would be removed and placed in safe keeping, but it was allowed to remain on Main Street during the remainder of that day and the

night, until plaintiff recovered it the next morning. Plaintiff was held in jail until 11:00 o'clock that night, at which time his father returned from out-of-town and posted bail (R. 25).

Folkman swore out a complaint in City Court, and left (R. 103, 113). Subsequently, the matter came to trial on the criminal charge of larceny, and Judge Maurice Jones, sitting without a jury, found plaintiff Not Guilty. It further developed that plaintiff had "never done anything of this type in his life" (R. 104), and, on cross-examination, that he had never been arrested before (R. 25).

Subsequent to the city court trial, plaintiff brought action, through his mother as guardian ad litem, since he was only 18 years of age, for false imprisonment, false arrest, and malicious prosecution.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO LIABILITY FOR HIS DETENTION AND ARREST.

It is the position of plaintiff that under the law and applicable statutes there was no legal basis or reasonable cause for (1) detaining plaintiff in defendant Zin-

ik's store in the first instance, and (2) even if such detention was lawful, there was no legal basis or probable cause for thereafter causing plaintiff to be arrested, placed in jail, and submitted to a criminal charge of larceny. Accordingly, issue is taken with the refusal of the trial court to grant plaintiff's Motion for Directed Verdict (R. 120) on the issue of liability which was made at the conclusion of the evidence taken in the trial.

The analysis of this matter should properly be made into two parts: Whether defendant Folkman was justified in accosting and detaining plaintiff in the first instance and, if so, was he further justified in thereafter detaining plaintiff and causing his arrest and incarceration.

(a) *Defendants did not have reasonable and probable ground to detain plaintiff as a matter of law.*

Section 77-13-30, Utah Code Annotated, as Amended 1957, sets forth the Utah Statutory law pertaining to the detention of persons suspected of shoplifting:

"A peace officer, or a merchant, a merchant's employee, servant or agent, who has reasonable and probable ground for believing that goods held or displayed for sale by the merchant have been taken by a person with intent to steal may, for the purpose of investigating such unlawful act and attempting to effect a recovery of said goods, detain such person in a reasonable manner for a reasonable length of time."

Whether defendant Folkman had reasonable and probable ground to believe that plaintiff intended to steal the karabiner should be tested by examining the evidence. The full extent of Folkman's information pertaining to the matter involved an inter-office phone call from employee Richard Bringhurst (R. 80, 89), informing him that "We had a possible shoplifter" in the store and "... please come down now." Folkman then related that he came down the elevator to the main floor and, in his own words (R. 100) "Checked with one of the employees to see which person it was they were watching. Then I walked to the main door in the front, the entrance to the store."

Folkman then indicated that he watched plaintiff as he was standing in the aisle by the bow and arrow display, while Folkman was still down at the front of the store, —

"... and I gave him about three or four minutes to kind of, you know, make up his mind whether he was going to put it back or buy it, . . ."

The evidence is completely devoid of any other information having been conveyed to Folkman at that point, although someone must have also told him that a karabiner was involved as indicated by his statement made at the time of his subsequent contact with the plaintiff. At any rate, Richard Bringhurst, at the time of the phone call, didn't tell Folkman that the item was in plaintiff's pocket; in fact, Folkman testified that "He didn't even tell me what the item was."

Inasmuch as Folkman went to the front door of the store to observe plaintiff, and since he at that time recognized that plaintiff had the option of “. . . mak (ing) up his mind whether he was going to put it back or buy it, . . .”, what possible rule of law or reason should dictate that plaintiff be required to make that decision within a period of time consisting of three or four minutes? If store customers don't make a purchase within such a period of time, are they expected to leave the store, notwithstanding that they have been invited into the establishment for business purposes? By his admission, Folkman clearly realized that plaintiff had an option and, by not accosting plaintiff immediately upon stepping off the elevator, it appears clear that Folkman recognized that any detention at that point would have been premature and unauthorized.

What, then, transpired to change the situation after the lapse of three or four minutes? The answer is — nothing. Plaintiff was quietly standing in the area between the bow and arrow display and the mountain climbing equipment counter, and he hadn't made any movement of any kind which would indicate that he planned to move toward the exit of the store. In fact, his position at that time was considerably to the rear of the check counter, also.

Some states, with statutes similar to ours, contain an additional provision covering situations of this type. The Ohio statute (Section 2935.041 Revised Code) set

forth in the case of *Isaiah v. Great A. and P. Tea Company*, 174 NE 2d 128, 86 A.L.R. 2d 430, contains such a provision:

“Such detention, however, shall not be lawful unless the person to be detained has left the confines of the establishment but is within the immediate vicinity thereof; or, where the establishment is of the self-service type, the person to be detained has passed the cashier’s counter.”

Although Utah’s statute contains no such provision, it is submitted that reasonable minds, considering Folkman’s conduct and admissions, would have to agree that, in the absence of any overt action on the part of plaintiff, there was no reasonable ground to accost and detain plaintiff after the lapse of three or four minutes or any other length of time.

In support of the foregoing argument it is well to note that under statutory provisions similar to those in Utah, a person making a detention and/or arrest is held to the objective standard of a reasonable prudent man. Authorities for this principle will be set forth in the next section of the brief. The important thing is that the test is not that of the subjective suspicion in the mind of the store employee. As stated at 47 A.L.R. 3rd, page 1002 —

“ . . . mere suspicion that a person is shoplifting is insufficient to create probable cause for detention under a shoplifting statute, . . . ”

A further view of the situation which was evident to defendant Folkman immediately prior to making the detention and arrest reveals that there was a very logical alternative available other than the course which was followed. Folkman admitted on cross examination that the plaintiff entered the store alone and that there was really no need to make the detention and arrest at the time, at the place, and in the manner which he utilized.

Q. The store wasn't overly crowded at around 2:00 o'clock that afternoon with customers?

A. No, sir, it was not.

Q. Apparently there were ample personnel to watch what Kent was doing?

A. That's correct.

Q. And there would have been ample personnel to have waited until he did or didn't go towards the door with this item?

A. That's true.

Q. And you so testified at the criminal trial, didn't you?

A. That's right, there was plenty of people watching him.

Q. He didn't come into the store with a group of boys, did he?

A. No, sir, he did not.

Q. He was all alone?

A. Um-hum.

(R. 107)

Applying an objective standard of a reasonable prudent man, what justification existed for detaining and arresting the plaintiff who was in the act of shopping at a point near the rear of the store — and to the rear of the check-out counter, and who had given no indication of leaving the store with the item involved? Folkman had the alternative of waiting to determine whether the plaintiff was going to purchase the item or put it back on the counter; further, he was blocking the exit to the store and had ample assistance at all times to resolve the matter of whether plaintiff might eventually take any merchandise belonging to defendants.

Plaintiff submits that his initial detention, under the undisputed facts and viewed from the objective standard of a reasonable prudent man, was unreasonable and illegal as a matter of law.

(b) *Defendants did not have reasonable and probable ground to arrest plaintiff and cause his incarceration as a matter of law.*

If it be assumed, arguendo, that Folkman had some reasonable ground for detaining plaintiff in the first instance, it is submitted that no reasonable and probable ground existed for his continued detention, arrest

and incarceration. Our Utah statute pertaining to this aspect of the matter is Section 77-13-32, Utah Code Annotated, 1957, relating to the liability of one causing a detention or arrest for suspected larceny:

“A peace officer or a merchant, merchant’s employee, servant or agent who causes such detention of a person as provided in Section 77-13-30, or who causes the arrest of a person for larceny of goods held or displayed for sale shall not be criminally or civilly liable where the peace officer, or merchant, merchant’s employee, servant or agent has reasonable and probable ground for believing that the person detained or arrested committed larceny of goods held or displayed for sale.”

Although Folkman indicated that Bringhurst “. . . didn’t even tell me what the item was”, he accosted plaintiff and said, “Where’s the karabiner? Empty your pockets.” (R. 102). After requiring plaintiff to empty his front pockets, Folkman personally felt the back pockets (R. 102), found nothing, and looked into the helmet, which was extended to him. Folkman initially testified that plaintiff lifted the pictures to reveal the karabiner (R. 102), but further inquiry into the matter revealed a considerably different situation. On cross-examination Folkman admitted:

Q. At the criminal trial didn’t you state that it was in view but partially hidden on edge?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

* * * * *

Q. In any event, this karabiner could be seen visibly in the helmet?

A. If you call about one-thirty-second of a whole item showing, yes, sir, it was. . . ."

(R. 111, 112)

Plaintiff's testimony concerning the visibility of the karabiner in the helmet, as given on rebuttal examination, was as follows:

A. Yes. He testified that he could see the karabiner, that it was on edge. He testified in (city) court to that.

Q. Say it again; he testified what?

A. That he could see the karabiner and that it was on edge. He showed the karabiner on edge to the judge, and more than half of it was showing.

Q. Did you see him show this to the judge?

A. Yes, I did.

(R. 116, 117)

At two points in the cross-examination plaintiff responded:

Q. You didn't reach in and bring them out?

A. He (Folkman) just saw right in it without me moving anything.

Q. He looked in and the karabiner was underneath the film in your helmet?

A. No. It had slipped and was on the side against the wall of the helmet.

(R. 50)

* * * * *

BY MR. LAUCHNOR:

Q. Kent, this karabiner was on edge when Mr. Folkman showed it to the judge, illustrating the way the karabiner was when you lifted the film packages, is that right?

A. When I what?

Q. When you lifted the film packages?

A. I never lifted the film packages.

Q. Who did lift the film packages?

A. Nobody.

Q. Are you saying up at the store nobody ever lifted the film packages from the karabiner?

A. No, I never said anybody did.

Q. Are you saying you didn't?

A. They didn't lift.

Q. And you didn't either?

A. No.

Q. It was up on top?

A. Yes, on its side.

(R. 117)

Whatever version one wishes to accept concerning the degree of visibility of the karabiner in the helmet which plaintiff was carrying by the chin strip, the essential fact remains that a portion of the item was visible under everyone's view of the evidence. Further, without making any check with other employees in the store, Folkman proceeded with plaintiff's arrest and called the police.

Our Utah statute absolves an employee from civil liability if reasonable and probable ground exists for believing the person arrested committed larceny of the goods. Folkman, by his own admission, had encountered similar situations where he had detained persons, and anyone in his position must certainly be familiar — and we think the statute implicitly so requires — with the basic requirements of establishing a criminal cause of action for larceny. How can reasonable minds believe that this store manager, with his knowledge of such situations, and having in effect falsely accused plaintiff of having the item concealed in his pockets, ever except to secure a criminal conviction under the circumstances?

Further, let us look at the surrounding circumstances existing at the time, and of which Folkman was certainly cognizant:

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