2001

# Kent F. Fuller v. Zinik Sporting Goods Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a civil action brought by the plaintiff against defendants alleging false arrest, false imprisonment and malicious prosecution.

Plaintiff was arrested while shoplifting at the store of defendant, Zinik Sporting Goods, located on Main Street, Salt Lake City, Utah.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter was tried to a jury. The trial court submitted the three issues of false arrest, false imprisonment and malicious prosecution to the jury on separate verdicts. The jury's finding on each of the verdicts was in favor of the defendants, no cause of action. (R. 150-152). Thereafter, plaintiff made a motion for a new trial which was denied. He appeals therefrom.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek affirmance of the jury verdicts and trial court's order denying plaintiff a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts hereinafter set forth will reflect the testimony of the witnesses and the plaintiff in a light most favorable to the jury's findings and verdict, together with all reasonable inferences flowing therefrom. A considerable amount of time and space has been devoted by the plaintiff to a recitation of facts viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff but contrary to the jury's findings. Since it is the jury's prerogative to pass upon the credibility of the evidence and of determining the facts, the defendants will recite the facts in such a light. *Flynn v. W. P. Harlin Construction Company*, 29 Utah 2d 327, 509 P.2d 356.

On August 14, 1973, at about two o'clock p.m., the plaintiff, Kent Fuller, rode into Salt Lake City on his motorcycle where he parked the same at a parking meter on Main Street (R. 7). He entered Zinik's Sporting Goods on Main Street. He carried his helmet by the chin strap which was slung over his arm. When he entered the store, he went towards the rear where the mountain climbing equipment was located. (R. 12). In this area, he noticed a pegboard-type display of equipment used in mountain climbing. The display included the price of each item on the board by a sign located over the peg from which the item was hung and also by a price sticker attached to the item. Mr. Fuller stated that he looked at the items and in doing so, picked up a karabiner to check its price (R. 33-34). A karabiner is an object used in climbing to attach to wedges driven into the rocks so that a rope may thereafter be attached. It has the appearance of a large chain link where one end can be opened with a catching device to pass the link through the hole of the wedge. (Exhibit 2 P).

While standing in the area of the climbing equipment, an employee of the defendant, Zinik's, observed Fuller placing a karabiner under his shirt at the waist area where he attempted to conceal it. The employee, Mr. Spicer, after making this observation, called the matter to the attention of other employees, Richard Bringham and Gary Beckstead. (R. 68-70). As soon as Mr. Spicer passed the word to the other employees

that the plaintiff was apparently attempting to steal the karabiner, he moved from the area of observation to the check stand located near the center of the main floor of the store (R. 71). At this point, employee Bringhurst stated that he noticed the plaintiff fumbling his motorcycle helmet and lifting two envelopes which were in the helmet so he could put the karabiner inside the helmet and under the envelopes (R. 80). Beckstead was directed to approach Fuller and wait on him. (R. 71). In doing so, he asked Fuller if he could be of assistance. Fuller told him he was interested in buying a water jug or container for his mother. At this point the employee directed him to the counter a few feet away where the water jugs or containers were displayed (R. 95). After looking at a water jug or container, Mr. Fuller indicated his desires to purchase the jug and with the clerk, Gary Beckstead, he walked to the check stand. Upon arriving at the check stand, Beckstead asked Mr. Fuller as follows:

“Q. And did Mr. Fuller find the water container he was looking for?

“A. I pointed it out to him. I believe I picked it off the deal and handed it to him. He said that was what he wanted. I took it from him. I walked down to point 4 with him following behind him.

“Q. That’s the check stand?

“A. Yes, where I walked around the check stand, and at that time, I asked him if there was anything else, and he said, no, and —.” (R. 95)



After the sale of the water bag had been entered on the cash register and payment received, the plaintiff then walked away from the check stand, carrying his helmet where he went to the counter containing bows and arrows. At this point, Mr. Thomas E. Folkman, the Assistant Manager for the store, observed the plaintiff standing at the display of bows and arrows. Mr. Folkman had been summoned by one of the employees from his office upstairs and had been informed there was a shoplifter in the store. Mr. Folkman then walked from near the front of the store toward the bow and arrow display which was south of the check stand area. Mr. Beckstead, the clerk, was then asked what took place at this point. He stated:

“Q. Did you hear any conversation at all between Mr. Folkman and Mr. Fuller?

“A. Just that Mr. Folkman asked Mr. Fuller if he had a karabiner.

“Q. What did he say, Mr. Fuller?

“A. I don't recall what he said. It gives me the impression that he said that he didn't know what he was talking about.” (R. 96-97)

Mr. Spicer who initially noticed the attempted theft testified:

“Q. All right, thank you. Now, when you walked up to Kent Fuller, did you have a conversation with him?

“A. I said, ‘May I help you, young man?’ and he said ‘I'm just looking around.’”

"Q. And where were you when Mr. Fuller and the other fellow, Mr. Beckstead, got up to the check stand?

"A. I stayed in the same place.

"Q. The north end of the check stand.

"A. Yes.

"Q. Did you hear conversations between the two of them at the check stand?

"A. Mr. Beckstead says: 'Would it be cash?' And he says 'Okay.' He says, 'Is there anything else that you would like to pay for, young man?' And the reply from the customer was, 'No.' " (R. 71)

Mr. Fuller then walked from the check stand over to the bows and arrows. The Assistant Manager and defendant, Mr. Folkman, waited for the plaintiff to give him an opportunity to return the karabiner to the pegboard. When it became apparent to Mr. Folkman that the plaintiff was not going to do so, Mr. Folkman then approached him and asked him where the item was. The plaintiff then indicated that he didn't know what the Assistant Manager was talking about. Thereafter, he was requested to open his pockets inside out to see if they were being used to conceal the karabiner. When the pockets appeared empty, Mr. Folkman then told the plaintiff that he wanted to look inside the helmet underneath the envelopes (R. 102). At this point, the karabiner was discovered under the envelopes. Thereafter, the plaintiff was taken to a room at the rear of

the store where Mr. Folkman called the police. Another employee stood outside the room while Mr. Folkman made the phone call. As soon as Mr. Folkman had completed the call, the following transpired:

“Q. What did you do when you got into the back room?

“A. I sat down, called the police and just waited, and after I hung up the phone, Mr. Fuller said, ‘Why don’t you let me pay for it?’ I said ‘I’m sorry, but that’s not the policy of the store. If you shoplift, you have to pay the price.’ ” (R. 102-103)

Thereafter the police arrived and placed Fuller under arrest, taking him to the police station. Mr. Folkman further testified:

“Q. And did Mr. Fuller at any time to your recollection ever tell the police that he hadn’t stolen anything?

“A. No, sir, he did not.” (R. 53, 102-103)

After arriving at the police station, the plaintiff called his mother. She then called the defendant store and indicated that her son had been arrested for shoplifting. She asked whether or not the Assistant Manager, Mr. Folkman, wouldn’t drop the charges. He told Mrs. Fuller that he was not permitted to do such a thing as it was the store’s policy to prosecute shoplifters. (R. 103-105).

The plaintiff testified he was merely carrying the

merchandise, trying to make up his mind whether or not to buy it (R.43). No mention was ever made of the karabiner, its cost or the desire of the plaintiff to purchase the same until after the police were called. At this point, he then asked the Assistant Manager if he wouldn't permit him to pay for the item and leave the store.

## **POINTS URGED FOR AFFIRMANCE**

**POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GRANT PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO LIABILITY FOR HIS DETENTION AND ARREST.**

**POINT II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE ISSUES OF PROOF.**

## **ARGUMENT**

**POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GRANT PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO LIABILITY FOR HIS DETENTION AND ARREST.**

Appellant in his brief cites Section 77-13-30, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, in support of his argument. That statute states:

"A peace officer, or a merchant, a merchant's employee, servant or agent, who has reasonable and probable ground for believing that goods held or displayed for sale by the merchant have been taken by a person with intent to steal may, for the purpose of investigating such unlawful act and attempting to affect a recovery of said goods, detain such person in a reasonable manner for a reasonable length of time."

A companion statute concerning civil liability for arresting shoplifters recites as follows:

"A peace officer or a merchant, a merchant's employee, servant or agent, who causes such detention of a person as provided in Section 77-13-30, or who causes the arrest of a person for larceny of goods held or displayed for sale shall not be criminally or civilly liable where the peace officer, or merchants, merchant's employee servant or agent has reasonable and probable ground for believing that the person detained or arrested committed larceny of goods held or displayed for sale." Section 77-13-32, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

Thereafter, in appellant's brief, he cites decisions and statutes from other jurisdictions which admittedly contain provisions unlike those of Utah statutes.

The jury in the instant case reviewed all of the

evilence. It answered each and every verdict in favor of the defendants. It was the prerogative of the jury to decide whether or not the plaintiff was in the store with an intent to steal the defendant Zinik's property. It was further the prerogative of the jury to decide whether or not the employees of the defendant, including Mr. Folkman, acted reasonably and prudently under the circumstances and had reasonable and probable grounds for believing that the goods held by Zinik's for sale had been taken by the plaintiff with the intent to steal. These issues of fact were found against the plaintiff. Unless the plaintiff can show that the jury's finding is clearly erroneous and contrary to the evidence viewed in a light most favorable to their findings, the verdicts should be allowed to stand.

Plaintiff in his brief has omitted testimony concerning his attempt to conceal the merchandise and his refusal to pay for the merchandise when passing through the check stand. Plaintiff's counsel cross-examined the defendant and Assistant Manager, Folkman, concerning the propriety of customers carrying merchandise with them in and about the store trying to decide whether to make a purchase. In response to these inquiries, Mr. Folkman answered as follows:

"A. Most people do not inspect merchandise without looking at it. I can't see how he inspected it in his motorcycle helmet underneath the pictures without seeing it." (R. 106).

Plaintiff testified on direct examination that he did not intend to steal the merchandise. The jurors obviously did not believe this testimony in light of all of the other evidence and so indicated by their verdicts. Appellant does concede that the Utah Statutes quoted above absolve employees from civil liability if reasonable and probable ground exists for believing that a person is intending to commit larceny of goods. The jurors, after hearing all of the testimony, including that of the plaintiff, unanimously concluded that there was probable grounds to believe that plaintiff was trying to steal the karabiner. There is nothing in our statutes that require the merchant or his employees to wait until the thief has fled before attempting recovery of the goods. The plaintiff had passed through the check stand and rejected a request to pay for the goods. He further told Mr. Folkman that he didn't know what he was talking about when he asked him where he had hidden the karabiner.

Plaintiff was given every reasonable opportunity to pay for the merchandise or remove it from his helmet and replace it on the shelf which he did not do. When it became apparent that he was not going to do either of the alternatives mentioned above, he was confronted by Mr. Folkman. At this late point, the plaintiff did not tell anyone that he had the karabiner on his person nor did he tell them he wanted to purchase it. He remained silent while he was asked to go through his pockets in an effort to locate the item. When it was

not found in its pockets, Mr. Folkman then asked him to display his helmet in order that he might discover what was underneath the envelopes. The item was then found by Mr. Folkman inside the helmet. It was not until the police had actually been called that the plaintiff requested permission to purchase the item and leave the store to avoid arrest. He told his mother he had been arrested for shoplifting in the store when he telephoned her from the jail. She was in the courtroom during all of the testimony acting as his guardian ad litem. Testimony was received that Mrs. Fuller called the store stating that her son had been arrested for shoplifting, indicating that he had never done anything like this before. She asked that the charges be dropped. No rebuttal evidence was offered.

Certainly, the facts as stated above clearly show there was reasonable grounds for the jury to make the findings necessary to support its verdicts. The facts surrounding the shoplifting were for the jury's determination. In the case of *Hindmarsh v. O. P. Skaggs Foodliner*, 21 Utah 2d 413, 446 P.2d 410, this Court discussed the rules that apply in reviewing the findings of a jury. It stated:

“When the jury has made its determination, these further basic principles of review apply: Inasmuch as it is the prerogative of the jury to judge the credibility of the witnesses, we are obliged to assume that they believed the evidence which supports their verdict; and therefore, it is our duty to survey the evidence and all reason-



able inferences that fairly can be deduced therefrom in the light favorable to the verdict.”

See also *Erwell & Son, Inc. v. Salt Lake City Corporation*, 27 Utah 2d 188, 493 P.2d 1283; *Ivie v. Richardson*, 9 Utah 2d 5, 336 P.2d 781; and *Niemann v. Grand Central Markets, Inc.*, 9 Utah 2d 46, 337 P.2d 424.

Plaintiff recites considerable evidence and testimony to the effect that he had the funds in a checking account and that his folks had a charge account in the store which would negate any idea that he had a reason to steal. Fortunately, all thefts are not committed by the poor. The jurors chose to believe the defendants' evidence. They obviously believed that the plaintiff, Kent Fuller, was attempting to steal the merchandise. The court correctly refused a directed verdict on these factual issues.

## POINT II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE ISSUES OF PROOF.

The plaintiff complains that the court improperly instructed the jury concerning the burden of proof required of the parties. The court gave Instruction No. 11 which told the jurors in substance that the statutes quoted permit employees of merchants to detain persons where there is reasonable and probable

grounds to believe the person being detained or arrested was committing larceny of goods held for sale. The court thereafter informed the jurors in said instruction that if they believed the plaintiff took the goods with intent to steal and that his detention was reasonable under the circumstances, they should return a verdict for the defendants (R. 166). The court then gave Instruction No. 19. This instruction told the jurors in essence that if at the time of the plaintiff's arrest, the jury should find that defendants did not have reasonable or probable grounds for believing that plaintiff had committed larceny, they were further instructed that they should return a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendants (R. 174). The instructions given by the court clearly and accurately informed the jurors of the law involved in the case. The fact that the court did not give a supplemental instruction on proof did not in any way modify the proof required of the parties to the action. The jurors were certainly not misled by the court's refusal to give the additional instruction. In the case of *In re Richards Estate*, 5 Utah 2d 106, 297 P.2d 542, this Honorable Court stated:

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